71633-6-I

71633-6-1

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 14, 2013, 11:56 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES DIDLAKE, et al,

Appellants,

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING

Respondent,

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

RYAN BOYD ROBERTSON WSBA No. 28245 ROBERTSON LAW PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue Suite 4735 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 395-5257 ryan@robertsonlawseattle.com

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants are Washington State drivers who became subject to administrative license suspensions pursuant to the Washington State Implied Consent law. Each Appellant requested a hearing before a Department of Licensing hearing examiner to contest his or her suspension. To receive this hearing, each Appellant was required to pay a fee of \$200.2

Appellants filed suit against the Respondent, the Department of Licensing, to recoup these fees for themselves and for all other drivers who have been required to pay this fee to receive a hearing. Appellants also sought injunctive relief. The trial court dismissed the suit, and made no ruling on class certification. Appellants seek reversal of the trial court ruling dismissing their claims, and reinstatement of this cause of action.

The dispositive issue in this case is whether this fee-for-hearing requirement violates the due process clause of the United States and Washington State Constitutions.

¹ RCW 46.20.308.

² As of October 1, 2012, this fee has increased to \$375. See Laws of 2012, ch. 80.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court erred in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6).

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. While the trial court made no ruling regarding Appellants standing to bring this suit, do Appellants meet applicable standards to establish standing?
- 2. Does the State's imposition of a fee-for-hearing requirement to receive a due process hearing under the Implied Consent law violate Appellants' procedural due process rights?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Facts.

There are no material factual disputes. The Respondent (hereinafter "Department") instituted license suspensions³ against Appellants, individually, under authority of the Implied Consent law.⁴ The facts and issues related to each individual case are not relevant to this appeal.

Appellants each paid a \$200 fee to request a hearing to challenge their suspension. Appellants Didlake, Burke, Fischer, and Bennett prevailed at their hearings, and no suspension was imposed. Appellant

³ Unless required by context, the term "suspension" will be used to signify all state action against the driving privilege.

⁴ CP 2; 9

⁵ CP 10-11

⁶ CP 2-3; 9

Johnson requested two separate hearings based upon two separate arrests. As a result of one of these hearings the Department affirmed the suspension of his driving privileges.7

2. Procedural History.

Appellants filed a class action claim8 against the Department in King County Superior Court, and filed a motion for class certification under CR 23.9 The Department filed a motion to dismiss the claim under CR 12(b)(6).10

The trial court and parties agreed to address the motion to dismiss first. 12 No argument was heard on the motion for class certification. 13

In a written order, the trial judge granted the Department's motion to dismiss. 14 Appellants filed this appeal. 15 Appellants have further sought direct review before the State Supreme Court. 16

⁷ CP 3; 9 ⁸ CP 1 ⁹ CP 254 ¹⁰ CP 16 ¹² RP 4

¹³ RP 1-40

¹⁶ Statement of Grounds for Direct Review; filed 6/17/13.

3. <u>History Of Fee Requirement And Operation Of Implied Consent</u> Law.

In Washington State, drivers are presumed to have given "implied consent" to breath and blood testing for alcohol and/or drug impairment. ¹⁷ A law enforcement officer may invoke the Implied Consent Law where he or she has reasonable grounds to believe a person has been driving or was in actual physical control of a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug. ¹⁸ The law imposes a mandatory license suspension on drivers who either submit to a test with a result exceeding a statutory level, or if they refuse a test. ¹⁹

The Implied Consent law came into existence in Washington State in 1968 when voters passed Initiative 242. Laws of 1969, ch. 1. Before 1968, Washington law did not provide for non-criminal sanctions to be imposed against a person's driver's license related to an arrest for Driving Under the Influence (DUI). A driver's license was suspended only upon a criminal conviction. See RCW 46.61.515 (1967). Washington law at the time did not compel a driver to submit

¹⁷ RCW 46.20.308(1).

¹⁸ RCW 46.20.308(1).

¹⁹ RCW 46,20,3011

to any breath or blood testing, and a refusal to provide such testing was inadmissible evidence at trial. See RCW 46.61.505(3) (1967).

Initiative 242 fundamentally changed Washington law. The law created the concept of "implied consent" to breath or blood alcohol testing, and initially imposed a six month license revocation for any driver who refused a test requested by a law enforcement officer irrespective of criminal sanctions. The Department imposed the revocation "upon receipt" of the officer's sworn report alleging he or she had reasonable grounds to believe the driver was under the influence of intoxicating liquor and refused the test. The Department provided the driver with notice of the revocation and the opportunity to request a hearing to challenge the revocation. No fee was required.

In 1994, the Legislature overhauled the State's DUI laws. Laws of 1994, ch. 275. The Legislature expanded the scope of implied consent hearings to include administrative license suspensions in cases where drivers submit to breath or blood alcohol testing with a result

exceeding .10.²⁰ For the first time, the Legislature adopted the "fee-for-hearing" requirement.²¹ (\$100.00 at the time)

In 1999, the Legislature amended the fee-for-hearing requirement to allow indigent drivers to waive the fee. Laws of 1999, ch. 331. Bill reports for this amendment (SSB 5399) do not provide an explanation for the fee waiver. 22 However, a report on a related bill, SB 5443, implied the fee waiver was based on due process concerns for indigent drivers. 23

In 2005, the Legislature increased the hearing fee to \$200. Laws of 2005, ch. 314. This legislation derived from RCW 46.01.360, and authorized the Department to create a bi-annual study to:

"[Compare] the fees [the Department] charges for services to the cost of the agency to provide the service."²⁴ Id (emphasis added).

²⁰ Breath tests are measured in g/210 L of breath. Blood tests are measured in g/100 ml of blood. This level has subsequently been reduced to .08.

²¹ Bill reports fail to identify a particular justification for the fee. CP 132-159. A Fiscal Note by the <u>Local Government Department of Community Development</u> on SSB 6047 (dated Feb. 11, 1994), recognized that the license hearing must comport with due process in that the counties might have to pay the fee for "indigent defendants" since the hearing is a "due process right." CP 165. A Fiscal Note by the Department dated Feb. 3, 1994, indicates the Department expected the number of drivers decrease 50% "because of the fee." CP 171.

²² CP 183-194

²³ CP 196

²⁴ CP 201

This study found that the previous \$100 fee was insufficient to cover the cost of the providing the "service" of a hearing to a driver.²⁵

In 2012, the Legislature increased the fee to \$375. Laws of 2012, ch. 80. Fees were increased for several other "driver services," such as fees for issuance and renewal of a license and several license endorsements. A "DUI hearing", i.e., an Implied Consent hearing, was listed as a "driver service." The Final Bill Report simply referred to the fee increase for a "DUI hearing" as a "document."

Presently, drivers are notified of the fee-for-hearing requirement on the written notice they receive from the arresting officer. ²⁸ After notice is given, the officer submits a "sworn report" to the Department. ²⁹ "Upon receipt" of the sworn report, the Department commences the suspension. ³⁰ The driver then has a twenty (20) day window to submit a request for a hearing. ³¹ The driver must pay a fee

²⁵ CP 201

²⁶ CP 208

²⁷ CP 216

²⁸ RCW 46.20.308(5).

²⁹ RCW 46.20.308(5).

³⁰ RCW 46.20.308(6).

³¹ RCW 46.20.308(6).

to receive the hearing, or seek a waiver of the fee by establishing indigency as defined by statute.32

V. ARGUMENT

1. Appellants Meet Applicable Standards To Establish Standing.

A. Neither The Trial Court Nor The Department Properly Addressed Standing.

The trial court made no ruling on the issue of whether Appellants have standing to bring this action. Instead, the trial court stated, "The [Department] has raised the threshold issue of whether the plaintiffs in this case have standing to bring a lawsuit."33 While "questioning" whether the Appellants have standing, the trial court proceeded to address the merits of the Appellants' claims.

The Department did not raise standing as an affirmative defense,³⁴ nor did it raise standing as an issue in its opening brief in support of its Motion to Dismiss.³⁵ In its reply brief, the Department devoted six lines to its standing argument, citing one Washington and one Sixth Circuit case, and concluding that since the Appellants had paid the fee and obtained a

³² RCW 46.20.308(6). ³³ CP 239

³⁴ CP 8

hearing, they lacked standing to bring a claim for others.³⁶ At oral argument the Department mentioned standing twice, but with no substantial response by the trial court.³⁷

Notwithstanding the failure of the Department to raise standing in its opening brief, the trial court noted, "It is difficult to know how the plaintiffs believe they have standing because they did not brief the issue." The failure of the Department to raise, much less brief, the standing issue and the trial court's lack of interest in the issue at oral argument are inconsistent with trial court's comment concerning plaintiffs' failure to brief the issue. Clearly the Appellants were unable to respond, much less analyze, the Department's untimely raised standing argument.

Further, the trial court's purported reasoning for "questioning" whether Appellants have standing is, "They [Appellants] are effectively challenging the statute on behalf of others who did not seek a hearing because of the fee, regardless of the fact it could have been waived." In this regard, the trial court was mistaken. Careful review of the complaint

³⁶ CP 233-234

³⁷ RP 15; 36

³⁸ CP 230

³⁹ CP 239

and the pleadings demonstrates unequivocally that Appellants sought to recover fees paid by them and others similarly situated, not to challenge the statute on behalf of persons unlike themselves who did not seek a hearing.

Thus the issue of standing was not properly raised by the Department, nor was it analyzed by either the Department or the trial court. Accordingly, the trial court did not grant the Department's Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that Appellants do not have standing to raise the claims at issue.

B. Appellants Have Standing.

This action is a class action. Appellants have standing to bring the claims on their own behalf, which is not disputed either by the trial court or the Department, and have standing as class representatives to bring the claims for all others similarly situated. Both the trial court and the Department ignored that that this is a class action.

In addition to the Department's Motion to Dismiss, the trial court also had before it Appellants' fully briefed Motion for Class

Certification. 40 In its opposition to that Motion, the Department did not

10

⁴⁰ CP 254

question that this case should proceed as a class action. In particular, the Department did not challenge the adequacy of Appellants as class representatives, nor that their claims were not typical of the entire class. Indeed the Department made no arguments that plaintiffs had not met all of the standards for class certification pursuant to CR 23(a) and 23(b)(2). Its standing argument and the trial court's analysis of the same, address a non-issue: The standing of Appellants to bring an action on behalf of persons not alleged to be in the putative class. In effect, both the trial court and the Department have conceded Appellants have standing to bring this case on behalf of the class they seek to represent. Certification under Rule 23(b)(2) is appropriate when injunctive or declaratory relief is sought and defendant "has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class." Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc., 160 Wn.2d

_

41 Department's Response to Motion for Class Certification

⁴² As stated in Appellants' Motion for Class Certification, the "central question common to each member of the class [is] – was Defendant permitted to charge a fee ("Fee") to class members which was to be paid before the class member could obtain a hearing as permitted by 46.20.308." CP 254-255

permitted by 46.20.308," CP 254-255

A3 CR 23(a) requires a plaintiff must satisfy four elements for class certification:

Numerosity, commonality, typicality and adequacy. Once those elements are met, the plaintiff must then demonstrate the class should be certified under CR 23(b). Here plaintiff argued, and the Department did not oppose, that the class should be certified pursuant to CR 23(b)(2), which provides "An action may be maintained as a class action if the prerequisites of section (a) are satisfied, and in addition... The party opposing the class has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole."

173, 188, 157 P.3d 847 (2007); Eriks v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 466, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992). Here, Appellants seeks a determination that the Department's practice of charging and collecting a fee-for-hearing is illegal and subject to injunctive relief. Moreover, the Department has acted "on grounds generally applicable to the class" by systematically collecting this fee from each class member who sought a hearing under RCW 46.20.308. Appellants seek an injunction ending the Department's wrongful collection of the fees, as well as restitution of fees paid and damages.

Appellants are seeking declaratory and injunctive relief that the fees they paid were improper and should be refunded to them and the class, which is permitted by RCW 7.24.020 which provides:

A person interested under a deed, will, written contract or other writings constituting a contract, or whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute, municipal ordinance, contract or franchise, may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the instrument, statute, ordinance, contract or franchise and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder.

This action falls squarely within the provisions of RCW 7.24.020.

Appellants are persons whose rights are affected by a statue, and they have

the right to seek a determination of the validity of the statue, as they have done. Furthermore, RCW 7.24.120 provides,

"This chapter is declared to be remedial; its purpose is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations; and is to be liberally construed and administered."

The rights of tens of thousands of persons are to be settled in this action. Appellants have standing both pursuant to RCW 7.24.020 and CR 23(a) and (b)(2) to vindicate the rights of the putative class.

The Washington Supreme Court has stated the criteria for finding that a plaintiff seeking declaratory relief has standing:

This court has established a two-part test to determine standing to seek a declaratory judgment under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, chapter 7.24 RCW. Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). First, the interest sought to be protected must be "'arguably within the zone of interests to be protected or regulated by the statute or constitutional guarantee in question.' "Id. (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Save a Valuable Env't v. City of Bothell, 89 Wn.2d 862, 866, 576 P.2d 401 (1978)). Second, the challenged action must have caused the challenger an injury in fact, economic or otherwise. Id.

Washington Ass'n for Substance Abuse & Violence Prevention v. State, 174 Wn. 2d 642, 653, 278 P.3d 632, 638 (2012).

Appellants in this case meet both requirements. Each has an interest in vindicating the rights of all citizens to have a hearing without

the requirement of paying for it, and each was in fact sustained an injury in fact, i.e. payment of the fee in order to obtain the hearing. While Appellants did not specifically plead their case as a taxpayer's derivative action, the Department was on notice that the relief sought was based the right of a taxpayer to bring an action. In Downey v. Pierce County, 165 Wn. App. 152, 267 P.3d 445 (2011), the Court of Appeals characterized Downey's suit as a "UDJA/taxpayers' derivative action requesting injunctive and/or declaratory relief" Downey, at 159. This is precisely the relief sought by Appellants in this action. In Downey, the trial court found that Downey had standing (Id. at 160) and on appeal the parties did not dispute any standing issues (Id. at 155, fn. 3). See also Fed. Way Sch. Dist. No. 210 v. State, 167 Wash. 2d 514, 528, 219 P.3d 941, 948-49 (2009) ("The Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act grants standing to persons 'whose rights ... are affected by a statute.' RCW 7.24.020. This is consistent with the general rule that a party must be directly affected by a statute to challenge its constitutionality.")

Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet Inc., supra, is also instructive.⁴⁴
There Nelson was required by Appleway to pay the business and

⁴⁴ The case is also important because it certified the class in question under CR 23(b)(2), as should be done with this case after remand.

occupation tax above the final price for purchasing a used car. Nelson filed a class action claim requesting declaratory relief that Appleway's collection of B & O tax, and the sales tax on the B & O tax, violated Washington law. He also asked the court to enjoin Appleway's future collection of B & O tax from customers and prayed for monetary relief, claiming Appleway was unjustly enriched. *Nelson*, at 178-79.

Appleway argued Nelson did not have standing. The Supreme Court rejected the argument:

To have standing a party must (1) be within the zone of interest protected by statute and (2) suffered an injury in fact, economic or otherwise. Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). Appleway contends Nelson is a customer and not within the zone of interests protected by RCW 82.04.500 because it is a tax "on businesses." Suppl. Br. of Pet'rs at 13 (emphasis in original). Therefore, Appleway argues, a customer has no rights under the statute. Appleway is right—the B & O tax is meant to be a tax on businesses. But Nelson paid Appleway's tax for Appleway. This is precisely what RCW 82.04.500 forbids. Therefore, Nelson is within the zone of interest protected by the statute. Appleway also maintains there is no injury in fact because Nelson would have to pay the tax as part of the overhead expense. This is incorrect as the market sets the price, not the overhead. See discussion supra note 5. Nelson paid \$79.23 more than the negotiated price. This is economic injury in fact and Nelson satisfies both standing requirements.

Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc., 160 Wash. 2d 173, 186, 157 P.3d 847, 853 (2007)

So long as the class representatives have standing, they may bring the case and seek certification. As stated in *Newberg on Class Actions*,

Section 2:1:

In class actions, as in all suits in federal court, plaintiffs must have standing in order to sue. The doctrine of standing, which has both constitutional and prudential dimensions, arises from the Article III limitation that courts may only decide "cases" or "controversies." The Supreme Court has stated that the purpose of the standing requirement is to ensure that the plaintiff has "such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy as to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues[.]" In Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, the Supreme Court outlined the three-part test for determining whether the constitutional standing requirement is met—a plaintiff must show: 1) that she suffered actual injury; 2) that the injury is traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and 3) that the injury may be redressed by a favorable decision.

1 Newberg on Class Actions § 2:1 (5th ed.)

The question of whether a plaintiff who has standing to bring a claim individually may bring it for a class is not a question of standing but of class action law. In this case, both the Department and the trial court have conflated the issues. Neither the Department nor the trial court questioned whether the Appellants in this case have standing to bring their own claims. Accordingly, they have the right to seek to certify the class so that all similarly situated individuals can be benefit from the rulings in this matter.

2. The State's Imposition Of A Fee-For-Hearing Requirement To Receive A Due Process Hearing Under The Implied Consent Law Violates Appellants' Procedural Due Process Rights.

A. Standards Affecting Review.

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