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

7 The superior court and parties agreed the court would address the motion to 
dismiss first, so the court never ruled on the plaintitfs' class certification motion. 
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principles also prevent plaintiffs from speculating that the filing fee may 

prevent some hypothetical driver from obtaining a hearing. 

Even if the plaintiffs have standing, they cannot establish that the 

filing fee is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, either facially or 

as applied to them. Under U.S. Supreme Court and Washington 

precedent, unless a fundamental right is implicated, fees for access to 

court or administrative hearings satisfy procedural due process, whether or 

not the litigant is indigent. Even when other courts have found a filing fee 

violates due process where a fundamental right was not involved, they 

have found the fee must be waived only for indigent litigants. Here, the 

plaintiffs' interest in their licenses to drive on state roadways is important, 

but not fundamental. Rather, a driver's license is a state-granted privilege 

subject to the government's reasonable regulation and control for roadway 

safety. And the Department waives the fee for indigent drivers. The fee 

satisfies due process. 

Finally, even if this Court reaches the Mathews v. Eldridge 

balancing test, the substantial, but not fundamental, interest in a driver's 

license does not outweigh the significant state interest in maintaining 

highway safety and adequately protecting the taxpayer funds by charging 

filing fees for those who request hearings. The availability of an 

indigency waiver mitigates any risk of erroneous deprivation of a license 
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without a hearing. Thus, even under Mathews, the filing fee does not 

violate procedural due process. The plaintiffs do not argue any other basis 

for their claim. The Court should affirm the supenor court's order of 

dismissal. 

A. Standard of Review 

Whether dismissal was appropriate under CR 12(b)(6) is a question 

of law that courts review de novo. 8 San Juan County v. No New Gas Tax, 

160 Wn.2d 141, 164, 157 P.3d 831 (2007). The factual allegations 

contained in the complaint are accepted as true. Burton v. Lehman, 153 

Wn.2d 416, 422, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005). Dismissal is appropriate under 

CR 12(b)(6) when it appears "beyond doubt that the claimant can prove no 

set of facts, consistent with the complaint, that would justify recovery." 

ld. 

Constitutional challenges are also questions of law subject to de 

novo reVIew. Amunrud v. Bd. of Appeals, 158 Wn.2d 208, 215, 143 P.3d 

571 (2006). Statutes are presumed to be constitutional, and the heavy 

burden to show unconstitutionality is on the challenger. Id. at 215 

8 The drivers assert that the Department's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for 
failure to state a claim was more properly characterized as a CR 12(c) motion for 
judgment on the pleadings. Appellants' Opening Br. at 17 n.45. They concede that it is a 
"distinction without importance for purposes of this appeal" because the appellate court 
reviews an order granting a CR 12(c) motion identically to an order granting a CR 
12(b)(6) motion. Jd.; P.E. Systems, LLC v. CPl Corp., 176 Wn.2d 198,203,289 P.3d 
638 (2012). 
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(citation omitted). Thus, the plaintiff drivers must prove a procedural due 

process violation beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. 

B. The Plaintiffs Lack Standing to Raise a Procedural Due 
Process Challenge to the Filing Fee, and Similarly, They 
Cannot Show the Filing Fee is Unconstitutional Either As 
Applied to Them or Facially 

The named plaintiffs and purported class are expressly limited to 

drivers who paid the filing fee and obtained hearings. None of the named 

plaintiffs was deprived of a hearing because of the filing fee. Their right 

to due process wasnot injured by the fee because they received all of the 

process that was due to them. They do not have standing to raise 

arguments on behalf of third-party drivers hypothetically deprived of 

hearings because of the filing fee, especially where indigency waivers are 

granted so often. Moreover, in an as applied challenge, plaintiffs are 

limited to showing the DUI hearing system is unconstitutional as it has 

been applied to them, which they cannot do. The plaintiffs similarly 

cannot make a facial challenge because the fee does not bar access to a 

hearing for those who can afford it, and it is waived for indigent drivers. 

1. The purported class is limited to those who paid the fee 
and had a hearing, and these plaintiffs lack standing to 
assert the rights of hypothetical third-party drivers who 
would not request a hearing because of the fee. 

Although the drivers deny they seek to vindicate the rights of third-

party drivers not named as plaintiffs, Appellants Opening Br. at 10, they 
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attempt to incorporate arguments on behalf of those who would not seek a 

hearing because of the fee. See Appellants' Opening Br. at 22 ("Except 

for indigent drivers, access to due process is based not on the nature of the 

property rights at issue, but rather by the contents of the driver's bank 

account."), 42 (suggesting submission of the officer's report alone results 

in a license suspension "without any review," even though all of the 

named plaintiffs and members of the purported class had a pre-suspension 

evidentiary hearing). However, the purported class is expressly limited to 

those who have paid the filing fee and obtained a DUI hearing: "All 

persons who have, within the applicable statute of limitations, paid a fee in 

order to receive a hearing under RCW 46.20.308." CP 254 (emphasis 

added). Thus, the named plaintiffs and purported class explicitly exclude 

anyone who did not obtain a hearing because they did not or could not pay 

the fee. See CP 254; CP 2-3, ~~ 1.1-1.3. 

"A party seeking to challenge constitutionality of a statute must 

demonstrate that the statute has operated to that party's prejudice." 

Postema v. Snohomish Cnty., 83 Wn. App. 574, 579-80, 922 P.2d 176, 180 

(1996) (citing High Tide Seafoods v. State, 106 Wn.2d 695, 701-02, 725 

P .2d 411 (1986). "One cannot urge the invalidity of a statute unless 

harmed by the particular feature which is challenged." State v. McCarter, 

91 Wn.2d 249, 253, 588 P.2d 745 (1978), overruled on other grounds by 
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Matter of McLauglin, 100 Wn.2d 832, 676 P.2d 444 (1984). The party's 

injury must be one that "'fairly can be traced to the challenged action' and 

is 'likely to be redressed by a favorable decision.'" Valley Forge 

Christian College v. Americans United for Separation of Church & State, 

Inc., 454 U.S. 464, 472, 102 S. Ct. 752, 70 L. Ed. 2d 700 (1982) (quoting 

Simon v .. Eastern Ky. Welfare Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 38,41, 96 S. Ct. 

] 917,48 L. Ed. 2d 450 (1976».9 Here, because the plaintiffs all received 

notice and a hearing, they can show no injury to their own procedural due 

process rights. 

These plaintiffs have not asserted, nor could they assert, that the 

filing fee operated to deprive them of their right to a hearing. State v. 

Storhoff, 133 Wn.2d 523, 527, 946 P.2d 783 (1997); Postema v. 

Snohomish Cnty. , 83 Wn. App. 574, 579-80, 922 P.2d 176 (1996). 

Accordingly, they lack standing to raise the filing fee as a barrier to due 

process because the fee was not a barrier for them; they were not "harmed 

by the particular feature which is challenged." McCarter, 91 Wn.2d at 

249 (holding petitioner lacked standing to allege procedural defects 

existed in a statute where he had been afforded the allegedly absent rights 

in his own hearing); see also, Wiren v. Eide, 541 F.2d 757, 762 (9th Cir. 

9 Washington's standing doctrine is drawn from federal law. See High Tide 
Seafoods, 106 Wn.2d at 702 (citing Allen v. Wright, 468 U.S. 737, 104 S. Ct. 3315, 82 L. 
Ed. 2d 556 (1984), and Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 193-94,97 S. Ct. 451, 50 L. Ed. 2d 
397 (1976)). 
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1976) (plaintiff lacked standing to challenge statutory notice provision 

where he had received actual notice). Like the litigants in McCarter and 

Wiren, the drivers here were actually afforded adequate procedural due 

process because they all had their hearings. The filing fee did not operate 

to their prejudice, and they lack standing to challenge it on procedural due 

process grounds. 

Plaintiffs rely on Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 

173, 157 P.3d 847 (2007), to establish their standing. But unlike in 

Nelson, where the vehicle dealership's violation of a statute injured the 

customer, there is no statutory or constitutional violation here resulting in 

an injury to the plaintiffs. See id. at 186. Whereas the dealership in Nelson 

did something a statute specifically prohibited, here, the Department did 

not do anything due process prohibits. See id. Accordingly, there was no 

due process injury that would allow the drivers to assert the filing fee is 

unconstitutional on procedural due process grounds. 

Further, it is well-established that principles of standing prevent a 

party from making arguments to vindicate the constitutional rights of 

hypothetical third parties. City of Bremerton v. Spears, 134 Wn.2d 141, 

158-59,949 P.2d 347 (1998) (party challenging the validity of a regulation 

lacked standing to "raise the rights of others"); Ludwig v. Dep '[ of Ret. 

SY8., 131 Wn. App. 379, 385,127 P.3d 781 (2006) ("Generally a litigant 
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does not have standing to challenge a statute in order to vindicate the 

constitutional rights of a third party."); Herrada v. City of Detroit, 275 

F.3d 553, 558 (6th Cir. 2001) ("Herrada lacks standing to argue that 

hearings are not held despite requests by vehicle owners, because she 

elected to pay the fine rather than request a hearing."). Here, the drivers 

are not indigent. Each one of the drivers paid the fee and obtained a 

hearing. CP 239. Thus, to the extent the drivers allege the fee bars access 

to hearings for those who cannot afford it, the drivers are not appropriate 

plaintiffs. They lack standing to claim a due process violation for third 

parties. Ludwig, 131 Wn. App. at 385. 10 

2. The plaintiffs cannot bring an as applied challenge to 
the filing fee that is based on any set of facts that is not 
particular to them. 

Similarly, the plaintiffs cannot bring an as applied challenge ·based 

on circumstances that are not their own. As an initial matter, the plaintiffs 

do not attempt to clarify whether they challenge the filing fee facially or as 

10 The drivers complain that the Department did not raise the standing objection 
until its reply in support of the motion to dismiss. Appellants' Opening Br. at 8-10. They 
also complain that the superior court did not adequately rely on standing for the issue to 
be addressed on appeal. Id. But the Department did raise standing before the trial court, 
and the trial court addressed the issue in its ruling, so it is properly before the Court on 
appeal . CP 228,233-34,239. Even if the issue were not adequately addressed below, "a 
party may present a ground for affirming a trial court decision which was not presented to 
the trial court if the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground." 
RAP 2.5(a). Moreover, a standing objection may be raised at any time, so long as it is 
adequately briefed. Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875 n.6, 101 P.3d 67 
(2004); Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183,202-03, 11 PJd 
762 (2000). 
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applied to them. Appellants' Opening Br. at 19 n.46. They assert that 

"the distinction is meaningless," because if the Court concludes that the 

filing fee "violates due process under either an 'as applied' or facial 

theory, the result is the same." Id. However, an as-applied challenge must 

establish that the "application of the statute in the specific context of the 

party's actions or intended actions is unconstitutional." City of Redmond 

v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668-69, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). If a statute is 

unconstitutional as applied to the plaintiffs, future application of the 

statute in a similar context is prohibited, but the statute is not totally 

invalidated. Id at 668-69. 

Here, the plaintiff drivers cannot argue, in the context of an as

applied procedural due process challenge, that the filing fee chilled the 

exercise of their right to DUI hearings. See Motley-Motley, Inc. v. State, 

127 Wn. App. 62, 81, 110 P.3d 812 (2005) (tor a due process violation, 

"the party must be prejudiced"); United States v. Mendoza-Lopez, 7 F.3d 

1483, 1485 (lOth CiT. 1993) ("fundamental unfairness sufficient to 

constitute a violation of due process" requires "prejudice from the alleged 

unfairness"), cert denied, 511 U.S. 1036 (1994). By definition, none of 

the members of the purported class was deprived of a hearing; they all had 

administrative hearings because they were able to pay the fee. 
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While plaintiffs may attempt to assert the filing fee has deprived or 

will deprive other drivers of hearings, they have pointed to no instance 

where that has occurred in the face of frequent indigency waivers. 

Plaintiffs have expressly limited their purported class to those who have 

paid the fee and obtained a hearing, they lack standing to argue on behalf 

of third parties, and an as applied · challenge must be limited to the 

plaintiffs' specific circumstances. 

To the extent the plaintiff drivers seek a refund of the fees they 

paid, they essentially object to the Legislature's judgment to impose a fee 

or not to provide a refund for parties who prevail at their hearings. But 

absent the deprivation of a hearing, no authority suggests this legislative 

judgment amounts to a constitutional procedural due process violation. 

Plaintiffs do not raise any other basis for their objection to the filing fee. 

3. The plaintiffs cannot succeed on a facial challenge 
because there are circumstances where the filing fee is 
constitutionally applied. 

To prevail on a facial, rather than an as applied challenge, the 

plaintiffs must prove "no set of circumstances exists in which the statute, 

as currently written, can be constitutionally applied." City of Redmond, 

151 Wn.2d at 669. Here plaintiffs cannot show there is no set of 

circumstances under which the DUI hearing fee could be constitutional. 

Jd.; McKenzie v. City afChicago, 973 F. Supp. 815, 819 (N.D. Ill. 1997) 
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("Because there are situations in which the hearing procedure ... might 

not unduly burden an individual's ability to exercise the right to that 

hearing, ... we find that the above flaws in the hearing procedure do not 

render the Ordinance unconstitutional on its face."). It is undisputed that 

the filing fee does not bar access to a hearing to drivers who can afford to 

pay it, and the hearing fee is routinely waived for indigent drivers. Thus, 

there are plainly circumstances under which the filing fee does not run 

afoul of procedural due process. Indeed, the plaintiffs have failed to claim 

a single instance where it has deprived a driver of a DUI hearing. Thus, to 

the extent plaintiffs bring a facial challenge, it too must fail. 

C. The Fee for an Implied Consent Hearing Satisfies Procedural 
Due Process Because It Does Not Implicate a Fundamental 
Right and It is Waived for Indigent Drivers 

Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, government may not deprive an individual of "life, liberty, 

or property without due process of law." U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § l. 

"Washington's due process clause does not afford broader protection than 

that given by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution." State v. McCormick, 166 Wn.2d 689, 699, 213 P.3d 32 

(2009). 

A driver's license is a substantial property interest protected by due 

process. City of Redmond v. Bagby, 155 Wn.2d 59, 62,117 P.3d 1126 
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(2005). Thus, "revocation of a driver's license must comply with 

procedural due process." Storhoff, 133 Wn.2d at 527 (citation omitted). 

Procedural due process requires "notice and an opportunity to be heard." 

Id. Here, there is no claim of any defective notice. The only issue is 

whether these plaintiffs had an opportunity to be heard. 

The drivers cannot establish the fee provision ,is unconstitutional 

beyond a reasonable doubt because they had both notice and a meaningful 

opportunity to be heard, where they prevailed. Further, under established 

precedent, unless a fundamental right is implicated, fees for access to 

court or a hearing (whether initial or appellate) satisfy procedural due 

process, even as applied to indigent litigants. The drivers' interest in their 

licenses to drive on state roadways is not fundamental but is a privilege 

subject to the government's reasonable regulation and control for highway 

safety, Moreover, the drivers are not indigent, and the filing fee is waived 

for those who are. 

1. Under U.S. Supreme Court and Washington precedent, 
due process does not require cost-free hearings for all 
litigants, even where the right involved is fundamental. 

Under U.S. Supreme Court and Washington precedent, filing fees

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